
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Wednesday, 23 September 2020 at 7.30 
pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on 
how Members can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Minutes from Previous Meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Litter Bin Replacement & Recycling on-the-go Trial (Pages 7 - 22)

6. Portfolio Performance Update - Operational Services Projects (Pages 23 - 38)

7. Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 2020/21 (Pages 39 - 48)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part A of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Dakota Dibben
Gary Harding
Nirmal Khabra
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Steve Thompson
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Monday, 8 June 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Dakota Dibben
Gary Harding
Nirmal Khabra
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Steve Thompson
Frank Wardle

Nick Brown Director (Housing & Operations)
Stuart Alford Assistant Director (Operations)
Elizabeth Thornton Service Manager (Property & Regulatory Services)
Mark Lees Regulatory Services Manager 
Joel Simmons Waste Projects & Compliance Officer
Clive Boorman Technical Services Support Officer 
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager

1. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 February 2020 were signed by the Chair.

2. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

3. Coronavirus - Cabinet Portfolio Impact 

The Committee was presented with a report which provided an overview of the impact of the 
Coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic upon the practical delivery of the services within the 
Operational Services Cabinet portfolio.

The Assistant Director (Operations) apprised Members of the operational steps, as detailed 
in the report, which had been introduced in order to maintain the services within Waste 
Management; Cemeteries; and Horticultural. 

The Regulatory Services Manager apprised Members of the operational steps, as detailed in 
the report, which had been introduced in order to maintain the services within Environmental 
Health and Licensing. 

The Committee thanked everyone at the Council and within Operational Services Cabinet 
portfolio who had worked hard to step up to the challenges brought by the lockdown 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 8.06.2020

2

particularly the Waste Collection Team for continuing to deliver an exceptional Waste 
Collection and Recycling Service. 

The Committee considered the report and highlighted the following:-

 What will the strategy be for the reopening of Council owned play grounds, will the 
Council be following Government guidance. The Assistant Director (Operations) 
advised that the Council will be following Government guidance and will also be 
undertaking its own risk assessments. The play grounds will remain closed pending 
updated Government guidance.

 Consideration be given to resuming the delivery of recycling sacks.
 In relation to the measures introduced at the Civic Centre and Brookvale such as 

limited interaction, supply of PPE etc., had those measures also been applied to the 
Waste Collection Team. The Assistant Director (Operations) confirmed that 
appropriate measures had been put in place for the Waste Collection Team and 
there continued to be regular communication with the Team. The Team was also 
aware of the process to be followed should they experience any symptoms of Covid-
19. Members were informed that there had been no positive test results to date.

 What had the additional cost been to procure PPE and had a variety of suppliers 
been used. The Assistant Director (Operations) advised that he would circulate this 
information outside of the meeting. 

 As there had now been an increase in people cycling and walking, consideration be 
given to the Waste Collection Team keeping the pavements as clear as practicable 
when emptying and returning kerbside bins. 

 Concern was expressed regarding the decision to close the cemeteries for casual 
usage. The Assistant Director (Operations) explained that measures had been taken 
for health and safety reasons and the updated Government guidance had been 
implemented.

 The Recycling Centre at Morrisons, Gravesend was now in need of a clean up. 
 It was requested that the contact details for the Licensing Team be sent to Members. 

The Regulatory Services Manager advised that he would circulate details outside of 
the meeting. 

The Committee noted the report. 

4. Bin contamination Policy 

The Committee was presented with the proposed Bin Contamination Policy which detailed 
how the Council will plan to deal with recycling contamination. 

The contamination of recycling bins had increased in the last couple of years within 
Gravesham. 

The Waste Projects & Compliance Officer advised that contamination affects the quality of 
the materials collected for reprocessing and that most forms of contamination were due to 
resident confusion or error. The proposed policy will allow the Council to educate and work 
with residents to ensure that the Council collects good quality recycling.

The proposed policy was one of a number of planned actions to educate and encourage 
residents to recycle as much as possible. There will also be:-

Page 4



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 8.06.2020

3

 A recycling communications campaign which will take place through the Council’s 
corporate social media channels.

 All residents moving in to housing developments will be provided with a new 
‘Recycling & Waste Services’ leaflet which will also be made available to landlords 
and management agents to issue.

 The Street Champions will also be equipped with a version of the leaflet to enable 
them to give appropriate advice about recycling.

The proposed policy will introduce a “four strikes” procedure whereby recycling bins will 
ultimately be removed from households that contaminate the respective bins on four 
occasions within a rolling six month period having failed to respond to advice, information 
and support from Officers in the Waste Management Team. Section 2.8 of the report 
detailed the “four strikes” procedure.

The Waste Projects & Compliance Officer informed Members that by utilising the 
contamination data already collected to target those properties that had been highlighted, 
the fourth stage would very rarely be reached.

The Committee was informed that there would be a different procedure in place for 
communal bins and section 3.2 of the report detailed that procedure. 

The Committee considered the report and highlighted the following:-

 In relation to communal bins, what was classed as moderate contamination, an 
explanation should be included within the policy.

 Consideration be given to introducing fines for contamination. 
 Consideration be given to the collection of glass. 
 As Gravesham is a multi-cultural community, consideration be given to producing the 

letters, leaflets etc. in different formats, languages etc.
 If vulnerable residents were identified through the process then those residents must 

be reported to relevant agencies in order for appropriate support to be provided.
 There was currently limited information available on the Council’s website therefore it 

should be reviewed and updated. 

The Waste Projects & Compliance Officer also provided the Committee with an update on 
the Street Champions. The intention was to launch a ‘Street Champions’ campaign in March 
alongside the Great British Spring Clean however due to Covid-19 this was postponed. 
There were currently 140 volunteers and 130 streets, alleyways, parks etc. had been 
adopted by Street Champions. 

The Committee noted the report.

5. Annual Review of the Licensing Shared Service 

The Committee was presented with a copy of the annual review that had been conducted in 
respect of the Licensing Shared Service with Medway Council.

The shared service had been in place with Medway Council since 1 January 2019. 

Page 5



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 8.06.2020

4

The Regulatory Services Manager drew Members’ attention to appendix two of the report 
which detailed the following objectives that had been identified for the shared service and 
were currently being met:-

 Efficiency savings. Realising actual financial savings across the two sites but 
maintaining delivery of the service.

 Added resilience across the two authorities. There will be a larger pool of officers 
covering both authorities providing additional resilience to cover sickness 
absence/vacancies or increased workload should this be required.

 Availability of specialist skills across both authorities leading to increased efficiency; 
potential for a reduced requirement for external support from contractors etc.

 Sharing of best practice in the delivery of the Licensing Service.
 Expansion of knowledge base of individual officers.

The Committee expressed concern regarding the issues detailed in section three of 
appendix two in relation to IT infrastructure and requested that the Chair draws this to the 
attention of the Cabinet so that the issues can be expedited. The Chair advised that he 
would liaise with the Regulatory Services Manager outside of the meeting. 

The Committee thanked the Licensing Team for the hard work that had been undertaken to 
date. 

The Committee noted the report. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.09 pm

Page 6



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: Wednesday 23rd September 2020

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford, Assistant Director (Operations)
Joel Simons, Waste Projects & Compliance Officer

Subject: Litter Bin Replacement & Recycling on-the-go Trial

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide members with an overview of plans to replace the litter bins and trial recycling 'on-
the-go' at St Andrew's Gardens. The report includes proposals for the further introduction of 
recycling 'on-the-go' at the Riverside Leisure Area and Woodlands Park, subject to the 
success of the trial.  

Recommendations:
1. For information only.

1. Summary

1.1 The existing litter bins at St Andrew’s Gardens litter bins are not fit for purpose as 
they lack capacity and lids which can cause litter problems. The litter bins at the 
Riverside Leisure Area along the Gordon Promenade are dilapidated and are in 
need of replacement with a uniform style of litter bin.

1.2 WRAP studies suggest that typically, 60% of the contents of litter bins is 
recyclable. Introducing recycling ‘on-the-go’ is a pledge in the council’s ‘Carbon 
Neutral Gravesham: 2030’ action plan (Objective 1, Item 5). Recycling ‘on-the-go’ 
(RotG) would lower residual waste arisings and would increase recycling 
performance, as well as helping to promote and reinforce recycling behaviours at 
home and at work.

1.3 Feedback from counterparts at seven Kent Districts suggests that contamination 
of street recycling bins is very high, particularly in town centre locations or near to 
fast food establishments. This has often resulted in recycling bins being emptied 
and the contents disposed of as residual waste.

1.4 A Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) is likely to be introduced in England from 2023 
as part of the Environment Bill and will probably take the form of Reverse Vending 
Machines (RVMs) in town centre shops where consumers can return drinks 
containers for recycling in return for the deposit added to the purchase price of the 
item. 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2

1.5 Such an initiative is likely to deprive town centre bins of recyclate such as plastic 
bottles and drinks cans, rendering on-street recycling in Gravesend town centre 
unviable. 

1.6 In this context, to facilitate RotG the optimal solution will be to introduce ‘split’ 
recycling bins in Gravesham’s parks and open spaces, away from urban areas 
where DRS is likely to deprive council recycling bins of high quality recyclate. 

1.7 It is proposed that RotG is trialled at St Andrew’s Gardens as the site is relatively 
small and can be actively monitored and the waste collected could be controlled. 
This would enable the Waste Management Team to discern the fill-rate of ‘split’ 
recycling bins (as shown below) in order to develop an effective emptying regime. 
Types of contamination could also be identified to improve bin signage to 
minimise recycling contamination.

           

1.8 If the trial is successful, this model could be replicated and incorporated in to the 
litter bin replacement programme at the Riverside Leisure Area and Woodlands 
Park by the spring of 2021.

2. Current Litter Bin Provision

2.1 At the three sites identified, there are currently 12 different types of litter bins in 
service of varying size and condition. None of the 85 litter bins across the three 
sites offer any sort of dry mixed recycling provision.

2.2 The ‘Compass’ litter bins at Gravesend Promenade are currently in a very poor 
state of repair and require replacement. A photograph of an example is shown 
below (left).

Page 8



3

                            

2.3 The ‘Ruthin’ 55L litter bins at St Andrew’s Gardens do not have lids and so litter is 
often blown out of the bins by the wind. Also, the current sacks are a poor fit and 
parts of the metal bin liner tend to split the sacks as they are lifted out of the bin, 
creating additional work for the Operatives. The photo above (right) shows one of 
the bins early in the morning as it typically appears, having been filled up since 
being emptied the previous day, indicating insufficient capacity. 

3. Research

3.1 While the national Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) plan is not yet finalised, 
including the materials and drinks containers to be included, the proposed scheme 
will be developed further and will be presented in a second consultation in 2020. 

3.2 Following the second consultation, a DRS could be implemented from 2023, either 
as an ‘on-the-go’ DRS geared towards town centre on-the-go recycling of smaller 
beverage containers, or as an ‘all-in’ scheme which could involve scaling the 
scheme to incorporate larger beverage containers, which could also remove 
recyclate from local authority kerbside collections.

3.3 Recycling ‘on-the-go’ could deliver advantages for local authorities as more 
recyclate will be captured from litter bins while simultaneously reducing residual 
waste arisings; thus improving council recycling performance. However, there is a 
risk that the capture rate could be lower than anticipated and contamination may 
be too high to yield any acceptable recyclate.

3.4 Our research suggests that a Deposit Return Scheme will have advantages for 
local authorities:

3.4.1 A DRS can increase beverage container recycling rates, improve the 
quality of the material that is collected and reduce littering. 

3.4.2 DRS could reduce demands on Street Cleansing crews by incentivising 
behaviour change. This could in turn enable detritus, weeds, gulley 
sweeping and deep cleansing to take place; resulting in enhanced street 
cleansing provision.

Page 9



4

3.4.3 To mitigate lost revenue, extra money could be made available to councils 
through a full cost recovery EPR (Extended Producer Responsibility) 
system charged packaging manufacturers to offset any lost revenue from 
materials captured by RVMs.

3.4.4 Even if containers are dropped as litter by the initial consumer, the deposit 
acts as an incentive for them to be picked up and returned by someone 
else, so that the deposit can be claimed.

3.5 However, there are some potential disadvantages of a DRS scheme which may 
disadvantage local authorities:

3.5.1 An ‘all-in’ DRS, valuable materials that are already collected at the 
kerbside by local authorities and then sold on to markets would be diverted 
away from the kerbside and into the DRS, thus depriving councils of 
revenue streams. 

3.5.2 Modelling carried out by South Staffordshire Council found that a DRS 
would remove 29 per cent of the council's recycling yield by weight, but 
would only reduce residual waste arisings by two per cent (Eunomia).

3.6 A survey was sent out via email to ten other Kent districts to ask a variety of 
questions about their provision of recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins and their views on the 
prospective impact of DRS on the viability local authority RotG schemes. 
Responses from seven of the ten districts contacted have been received. The 
feedback from these districts are as follows:

 Folkestone & Hythe District Council have installed the most street 
recycling bins; 25 to date with more planned. The contamination of 
recycling is reported to be low, particularly in parks and less urban 
areas and where four-stream recycling compartments are fitted to the 
bins, although they did comment that these bins were very costly to 
purchase.

 Dover District and Maidstone Borough Councils have installed a limited 
number of street recycling bins. Maidstone Borough Council has 
reported high contamination.

 Ashford Borough Council have single street recycling bins in Ashford 
town centre which experience high levels of contamination, so a project 
is being prepared to ensure that recycling bins and litter bins are side-
by-side to reduce contamination levels.

 Dartford Borough Council has begun to install street recycling bins in 
their town centre, so could not comment on contamination levels yet.

 Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council stated that the street recycling 
bins in town centre locations were frequently contaminated, misused 
and damaged and have now been replaced by general litter bins.

Page 10



5

4. Methodology for the Pilot at St Andrew’s Gardens

4.1 Having visited each site to map out the current bin provision, it is now possible to 
visualise the current bin provision at each of the three sites (see Appendix 2) in 
order to identify gaps in litter bin provision. 

4.2 An additional visit with the Street Cleansing Manager enabled the rationalisation 
of current litter bin provision as well as the identification of locations at each site 
for the installation of recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins and the installation of larger 1100L 
refuse bins at two of the sites.

5. Proposals

5.1 The trial of recycling ‘on-the-go’ at St Andrew’s Gardens will enable the quality of 
recyclate collected to be monitored and bin signage to be refined before 
expanding the scheme to other Gravesham parks and open spaces, if successful.

5.2 By conducting a small-scale trial, Street Cleansing Operatives will be able to keep 
sacks of acceptable recycling segregated from other waste to be deposited at the 
Brookvale Depot for monitoring, prior to being tipped off at the Pepperhill 
Household Waste Recycling Centre.

5.3 The trial at St Andrew’s Gardens may provide an opportunity for bin fill level 
sensors and enhanced routing technology to be trialled for the purpose of 
monitoring bin usage and fill-rates of different types and applications of litter bins 
in real-time. 

5.4 As well as daily inspections by Street Cleansing Operatives when emptying the 
bins; the Street Cleansing Manager and the Waste Projects & Compliance Officer 
will also conduct weekly checks of the recycling compartments to assess the level 
of contamination and any interventions which may need to take place.

5.5 If the RotG trial is successful, alternative emptying, collection and segregation 
solutions can be further explored for the expansion of the scheme to the RLA and 
Woodlands Park.

5.5.1 Phase One (October 2020): St Andrew’s Gardens Recycling ‘On-the-Go’ 
Trial 

5.5.1.1 The site currently has a provision of 14 bins, with a total capacity 
of 740 litres. The current litter bin locations are plotted on Figure 1 
in Appendix 2.

5.5.1.2 By re-assessing the location of the litter bins on site, replacing the 
current litter bins and installing 6 RotG bins at strategic locations, 
a total of 12 bins will be provided. The suggested litter bin 
locations are plotted on Figure 1 in Appendix 3.

5.5.1.3 The proposed litter bins will deliver an enhanced total capacity of 
2,020 litres - an increase of 173%.

Page 11



6

5.5.2 Phase Two (April 2021): Riverside Leisure Area Bin Replacement 

5.5.2.1 The site currently has a provision of 52 litter and dog waste bins, 
with a total capacity of 4,910 litres. The current litter bin locations 
are plotted on Figure 2 in Appendix 2.

5.5.2.2 By re-assessing the location of the litter bins on site, replacing the 
current litter bins, installing 13 RotG bins and four 1,100L residual 
waste bin housings at strategic locations, a total of 55 bins will be 
provided. The suggested litter bin locations are plotted on Figure 
2 in Appendix 3.

5.5.2.3 The proposed litter bins will deliver an enhanced total capacity of 
11,655 litres - an increase of 137%.

5.5.3 Phase Three (April 2021): Woodlands Park Bin Replacement 

5.5.3.1 The site currently has a provision of 19 bins, with a total capacity 
of 1,895 litres. The current litter bin locations are plotted on Figure 
3 in Appendix 2.

5.5.3.2 By re-assessing the location of the litter bins on site, replacing the 
current litter bins, installing 5 RotG bins and an 1,100L residual 
waste bin housing near the Dashwood Road entrance, a total of 
19 bins will be provided. The suggested litter bin locations are 
plotted in Figure 3 in Appendix 3.

5.5.3.3 The proposed litter bins will deliver an enhanced total capacity of 
3,665 litres - an increase of 93%.

5.6 On 30th July 2020, five 1,100L bins were deployed to strategic locations at the 
Riverside Leisure Area and at Woodlands Park to assess the usage and fill-rate in 
order to inform future decisions about the permanent deployment of 1100L bin 
housings at Gravesham’s parks and open spaces. 

5.7 Initially, the larger bins were inspected and emptied 5 days per week. Our analysis 
indicated that the bins were utilised most at Woodlands Park (being emptied on 
42% of visits) and at the Promenade (being emptied on 50% of visits). As a result, 
the emptying frequency has been decreased to 3 days per week and continues to 
be monitored.

5.8 The permanent deployment of 1,100L bins within housings could look like the 
example below at Mote Park in Maidstone.

Page 12



7

6. Summary

6.1 RotG will be trialled at St Andrew’s Gardens as the site is relatively small and can 
be actively monitored and the waste collected could be controlled. 

6.2 This will enable the Waste Management Team to discern the fill-rate of ‘split’ 
recycling bins in order to develop an effective emptying regime. Types of 
contamination could be identified to improve bin signage to minimise recycling 
contamination.

6.3 If the trial is successful, this model could be replicated and incorporated in to the 
litter bin replacement programme at the Riverside Leisure Area and Woodlands 
Park by Spring of 2021.

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS

7.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 13



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, the Council has a duty to keep land 
in their area clear of litter and refuse (including dog mess), as far as is practicable.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The funding required to purchase the litter bins for the trial will be funded from the 
Carbon Neutral Reserve.  
It should be noted that additional funding which may be required to complete 
equivalent works at the other two sites identified, although the case for this funding 
will be made separately in a supplementary report.

Risk Assessment Living in a littered environment can make some people feel less safe in their 
communities, and can discourage some people from going outside. Poor local 
environment quality also discourages inward investment and may suppress 
property prices, damaging local economic growth.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home. To create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and 
parks, and delivering  projects and initiatives to further increase recycling.

Climate Change Objective 1 / Reference 5 - Introduction of recycling bins in public areas such as 
high streets, public spaces. 

Crime and Disorder A cleaner environmental reduces the fear of crime.

Page 14

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


9

Digital and website 
implications

There are no implications arising from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no implications arising from this report.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



10

Appendix 2:

Figure 1 - St Andrew’s Gardens Current Litter Bin Locations:

Key:

 Existing Litter Bin

P
age 17



11

Figure 2 - RLA Current Litter Bin Locations:

Key:

 Existing Litter Bin

P
age 18



12

Figure 3 - Woodlands Park Current Litter Bin Locations:

Key:

 Existing Litter Bin

P
age 19



13

Appendix 3:

Figure 1 - St Andrew’s Gardens Planned Litter Bin Locations:

Key:

 Derby E-Litter Bin
 Derby E-Double 

Litter Bin
 Derby E-Streamline 

Litter Bin
 Derby E-Double 

Streamline Litter Bin

P
age 20



14

Figure 2 - RLA Planned Litter Bin Locations:

Key:

 Derby E-Litter Bin
 Derby E-Double 

Litter Bin
 Existing Mounted 

Dog Bin
 Existing ‘Big Belly’ 

Bin 
 Existing Playground 

Bins (WHITE) 

P
age 21



15

Figure 3 - Woodlands Park Planned Litter Bin Locations:

Key:

 Derby E-Litter Bin
 Derby E-Double 

Litter Bin
 Derby E-Streamline 

Litter Bin
 Existing Playground 

Bins (WHITE) 

P
age 22



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: Wednesday, 23rd September 2020

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)
Joel Simons - Waste Projects & Compliance Officer

Subject: Portfolio Performance Update - Operational Services Projects

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee with an update on 
Operational Services projects and performance.

Recommendations:
1. Information only.

1. COVID-19

1.1 COVID-19 Service Overview

1.1.1 Members may remember that an Operational Services report on the 
COVID-19 impact was shared at committee on Monday, 8th June 2020.

1.1.2 All the teams within the Operational Services Team have continued to 
provide services through the COVID-19 pandemic including collecting 
refuse & recycling from residents’ homes, tending to parks and open 
spaces, continuing to provide a burial service and maintaining the 
Council’s fleet of vehicles.

1.1.3 Officers and frontline staff have been working with the Kent Resource 
Partnership to produce educational videos to inform residents about the 
work undertaken by frontline waste operatives and to thank them for their 
continued efforts during the COVID-19 pandemic.

1.1.4 The waste collection service has received the majority of the praise for the 
continuation of services to the public but all teams have worked hard to 
maintain their service areas.

1.1.5 The next few months will continue to be challenging in responding to the 
ever-changing situation posed by the pandemic.

Page 23 Agenda Item 6



2

2. Street Cleansing

2.1 Town Centre Improvements

2.1.1 A number of changes have recently been made to town centre cleansing 
operations to improve the general cleanliness and appearance of the area.

2.1.2 To support the on-going regeneration of the town centre, it was agreed 
that the town centre street cleansing service needed to be expanded to 
cover seven days a week from 7am till 6pm. To support this commitment, 
six additional staff have been recruited to the Street Cleansing Team 
which will allow for the streets within the town centre to be cleaned more 
often and the litter bins to be emptied more frequently.

2.1.3 Additional Investment has been made in new deep cleaning equipment to 
tackle dirt and grime on our local streets and a new road sweeping 
machine.

2.1.3.1 The Maxvac Gladiator is designed for the removal of chewing 
gum from pavements. The action and formula of the machine 
removes ingrained grime and pollution, helping restore 
pavements and public spaces to their original levels of colour and 
cleanliness.

2.1.3.2 The photograph below shows the results that the piece of 
equipment is able to achieve. The pavement shown in the bottom 

Page 24



3

half of the photograph shows what the pavement looked like 
without being cleaned and the pavement in the top half of the 
photograph shows the pavement after being cleaned by the 
Maxvac Gladiator.

2.1.3.3 The Scarab M25H road sweeper is designed to operate on town 
centre and suburban streets. Although a small vehicle in bulk, it 
has the cleaning power of a full-size sweeper and allows better 
access between vehicles and obstacles than a standard sized 
sweeper.

Page 25



4

                 

2.1.4 These improvements have led to increased positive comments about the 
cleanliness of the town centre.

2.1.5 Anti-gum littering weatherproof signage has been procured from Mars 
Wrigley for display in the town centre in order to optimise cleanliness. The 
installation of the signage has been delayed in order to avoid signage 
‘overload’ given the importance of social distancing signage in the town 
centre at the current time. The signage will be installed at an appropriate 
time with the agreement of the Town Centre Manager.

2.2 Adopt a Street - The Street Champions

2.2.1 The new ‘Adopt a Street - The Street Champions’ initiative was launched 
in early September during the Keep Britain Tidy “Great September Clean” 
campaign to improve upon the previous Community Litter Picking scheme.   
Originally this initiative was due to be launched in March 2020 but has 
been delayed due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Improvements include:

 The digital mapping of the streets, open spaces and alleyways 
adopted to enable new volunteers to opt to work collaboratively.

 A digital database and management form to process volunteer sign-
up, waste collection points and equipment requests.

 The creation of a dedicated mailbox monitored by Communities and 
Waste Management Teams to ensure responsive waste collection 
from litter picking activities, as well facilitating the suggestions from 
volunteers. For example, without launching officially, the mailbox 
has already resulted in 7 litter bins being added in littering hotspots 
as well as anti-fly-tipping signage being erected, based upon 
volunteer contact.

 The creation of mailing lists to enable news, updates and Great 
British Spring Clean details to be circulated to all volunteers 
simultaneously.

 The production of leaflets about Waste Management services for 
volunteers to discretely post through the letter boxes of properties 
that do not seem to know their bin day, how to present waste 

Page 26



5

correctly or may not know about our bulky waste services, resulting 
in additional untidiness.

 Closer collaboration with the Communications Team to share ‘good 
news’ stories and to enable links to anti-litter campaigns to be 
forged.

 The option of Ward leadership roles at a later date, to potentially be 
taken up by Ward Members to report events, participation and sacks 
of litter collected to us centrally to collate.

2.2.2 We currently muster 168 volunteers (including group members) who have 
pledged to adopt 151 streets, alleyways and open spaces. 

2.2.3 A Street Champions logo has been created for use on information 
guidance and posters about the initiative and as a means of recognising 
the important work of our volunteers in their new expanded role in pledging 
to adopt their street. The logo can be seen below. 

2.2.4 Community litter picking resumed in July 2020 and we continue to equip 
volunteers and collect waste. Groups of up to 6 are now hosting litter picks 
with strict COVID-19 secure guidelines in place.

2.3 Litter Campaign

2.3.1 A new anti-littering campaign has been launched with a hard-hitting 
message to make members of the public think carefully about what they do 
with their litter when out and about.

2.3.2 The concept of the new poster was inspired by a similar poster used by 
other authorities in the UK and in other countries. The posters emphasise 
that selfish individuals drop litter and make the borough look untidy and so 
this selfish behaviour is unacceptable. 

2.3.3 The posters have also been shared on corporate social media channels 
and have sparked a positive debate about the shared responsibility 
between the council and residents for the cleanliness of the borough.

2.3.4 These signs have been erected at entrances to Gravesham’s parks and 
open spaces and copies of the signs have been distributed to takeaway 
establishments in the town centre and on Perry Street to be displayed.

2.3.5 Further posters and graphics are being developed to also tackle dog 
fouling and cigarette butt littering as part of our continued No More Litter 
campaign. 

Page 27



6

2.3.6 The new poster design can be seen below as well as a photograph of one 
of the signs in-situ at the Dashwood Road entrance to Woodlands Park.

2.4 Fly-Tipping 

2.4.1 The number of reported fly-tipping incidents increased by 38 in the year 
2019-20 when compared with the previous year, while the number of 

Page 28



7

successful prosecutions including fixed penalty notices (FPNs) decreased 
(see table 2.4.8).

2.4.2 To help combat and deal with fly-tipping, a new Environmental 
Enforcement Team has been set up and will be within the Community 
Safety Team. A new Environmental Enforcement Manager has been 
recruited and will start work in September to lead on catching and 
prosecuting offenders who commit environmental crimes.

2.4.3 It is anticipated that the new Environmental Enforcement Team will have a 
very positive impact on tackling fly-tipping.

2.4.4 For the new service to work effectively there will need to be a close 
working relationship between the new Environment Enforcement Team 
and the Waste Management Team. 

2.4.5 A number of positive actions have been taken to educate residents and 
businesses about their waste disposal responsibilities, including a ‘Duty of 
Care’ course organised for Gravesham businesses that attracted over 70 
attendees - the highest attendance figure of any Kent authority.

2.4.6 Further positive actions are planned to educate the public about 
appropriate waste disposal and to catch the culprits who illegally dump 
their waste across the borough. These are detailed in the section below:

2.4.7 The KCC ‘Duty of Care’ Campaign

2.4.7.1 KCC has committed a further £250,000 for the financial year 
2020-21 to reduce the level of fly-tipping in Kent, building on the 
close work already undertaken with district and borough councils, 
Kent Police and other partners through the Kent Resource 
Partnership to tackle this crime. 

2.4.7.2 The funding will continue to assist district and borough councils to 
undertake further enforcement, improve communications between 
all partners involved and aims to better inform both householders 
and businesses of their Duty of Care responsibilities relating to 
waste disposal.

2.4.7.3 In the previous year, the following actions were pursued by KCC 
and councils which continues to form the a fly-tipping enforcement 
action plan:

 A ‘Duty of Care’ communications campaign, including the 
deployment of approximately 40 glow in-the-dark ‘CCTV 
Active Locally’ anti-fly-tipping signs at strategic locations near 
to fly-tipping hot spots, based upon the application of prior 
intelligence. An example of the signage and photographs of 
the signage in can be seen in 2.4.7.5.

 Information guidance was issued to members of the public in 
Gravesham and across the county through social media 
videos, bus sides and radio & television adverts.

 ‘Duty of Care’ courses were offered free of charge to business 
owners in each of the Kent districts with the aim of educating 

Page 29



8

business owners about their responsibilities relating to waste 
disposal. The course was hosted by Gravesham Borough 
Council on 21st February and attracted over 70 attendees - 
the highest attendance figure of any Kent authority.

 Writing to the Magistrates Association to encourage more 
substantial fines or sentences to be given to offenders.

 Fly-tipping hotspots have been identified and working in 
partnership with KCC a number of cameras have been 
deployed across the borough at these locations which has led 
to the instigation of a number of ongoing investigations.

 Planning the establishment of an automated phone system for 
intelligence reports.

 Providing training on inputting fly-tipping data consistently 
across Kent via Waste Data Flow.

2.4.7.4 Following on from the initial communications phase of the 
campaign in October 2019, the campaign was once again 
supported by GBC in February 2020.

2.4.7.5 Below, an example of the signage and photographs of the 
signage in-situ at the junction of Batts Road and Henley Street 
can be seen.

Page 30



9

                                           

2.4.8 GBC Fly-Tipping Figures in Financial Years - This table shows the 
recorded fly-tipping incidents from 2016/17 to present on a monthly 
and yearly basis

Month
Recorded 
Incidents

Recorded 
Incidents

+/- 
previous 

year
Recorded 
Incidents

+/- 
previous 

year
Recorded 
Incidents

+/- 
previous 

year
Recorded 
Incidents

 2016/17 2017/18  2018/19  2019/20  2020/21

April 211 138 -73 179 +41 134 -45 221

May 273 280 +7 239 -41 178 -61 183

June 176 239 +63 230 -9 169 -61 215

July 176 226 +50 230 +4 254 +24 164

August 189 170 -19 224 +54 186 -38 -

September 248 231 -17 237 +6 184 -53

October 160 115 -45 121 +6 222 +101

November 153 124 -29 166 +42 201 +35

December 124 103 -21 175 +72 138 -37

January 197 180 -17 122 -58 232 +110

February 146 142 -4 175 +33 219 +44

March 196 174 -22 142 -32 161 +19

TOTAL: 2,249 2,122 -127 2,240 +118 2,278 +38
Cost: £141,204 £148,438 +£7,234 £146,080 -£2,358 £146,746 +£666
Successful 
prosecutions 
inc FPNs:

0 22 +22 18 -4 3 -15

Page 31



10

2.4.8.1 The number of incidents reported is generated by completed 
customer service forms and internal reports, both over the phone 
and through the online reporting mechanism. The cost of removal 
& disposal is based upon national average costs.

2.4.8.2 Across Kent it is felt that not all incidents that occur are reported, 
so it is difficult to measure the trend in fly-tipping incidents over 
time. However, work was undertaken in February 2020 including 
all Kent districts to establish a common definition of fly-tipping and 
reporting parameters in order to ensure consistency across the 
county.

3. Waste Management

3.1 Bartec Software System

3.1.1 The Bartec Waste Management System, which first went live in April 2019, 
has continued to progress and develop digital change within the Waste 
Management Team. 

3.1.1.1 The Waste Management Team has now integrated the trade 
waste service onto the Bartec System. This work was completed 
on 1st July 2020.

3.1.1.2 Initial results suggest that the integration has worked well and 
Operatives are gaining confidence in working with the system and 
in-cab devices.

3.1.1.3 The changes to the invoicing system have been explained to 
trade waste customers and the new invoicing process is operating 
successfully.  

3.2 Recycling Improvements

3.2.1 The Council achieved a recycling rate of 42.5% in the year 2019-20, as a 
result of the dry recycling, food waste and garden waste collections. This 
was an increase of 0.3% when compared to 2018-19 (see table 3.2.2).

3.2.2 % of Waste from Household Recycling

April - Jun Jul - Sept Oct - 
Dec

Jan - 
Mar

End of Year

2016-17 35.3% 35.4% 34.1% 33.3% 34.5%

2017-18 37.3% 45.2% 41.9% 38.4%  40.7%

2018-19 45.8% 43.1% 40.5% 39.2%  42.2%

2019-20 44.3% 44.1% 40.3% 41.3%  42.5%

2020-21 45.6% - - - -

Page 32



11

3.2.2.1 Recycling and refuse tonnages are gathered from weighbridge 
data that is entered onto a master spreadsheet on a daily basis. 
The percentage of household waste recycled is then calculated by 
dividing the total recycling tonnage by total waste arisings from 
the borough.

3.2.2.2 The percentage of household waste being recycled has increased 
year-on-year due to the development of the services offered. 
Effective social media communication and advertising in the past 
year has delivered key messages to residents about correct 
recycling.

3.2.2.3 A Waste & Recycling Services leaflet has been produced for 
distribution to all new housing developments within the borough.  
A version of this leaflet has been produced for landlords and 
lettings agents to issue to tenants moving in to rented properties 
to ensure that new tenants have all the information they need 
about waste and recycling services in one place.

3.2.2.4 Officers have been working closely with the Kent Resource 
Partnership to produce educational videos to inform residents 
about what happens to their waste and recycling after it has been 
collected.

3.2.2.5 The Waste Projects & Compliance Officer is completing an audit 
of flatted developments in the borough and is examining ‘hard-to-
reach’ properties in the borough to ensure dry mixed recycling 
provision is delivered to as many properties as possible in order 
to enhance recycling performance further.

3.2.3 Residual waste per household in the year 2019-20 was 427.53 kgs. 
Compared to the year 2018-19, there was a 1.09% decrease in residual 
waste collected per household (see table 3.2.5). This is a positive result in 
the context of the COVID-19 lockdown. 

3.2.4 The period April to June 2020 saw an increase in the amount of residual 
waste collected from households. With more people at home during the 
COVID-19 lockdown period, more waste was generated within homes as 
schools and workplaces were closed. However, there was also an 
increase in the amount of recyclable waste collected which has ensured 
that the Council’s recycling performance has been maintained.

Page 33



12

3.2.5 Residual Waste per Household (kg per Household)

*ProvisP*Provisional results

3.2.5.1 The formula for calculating the residual waste generated per 
household is the total waste tonnage and the MRF (material 
recovery facility) recycling rejection tonnage added together, 
divided by the number of households in the borough and 
multiplied by one thousand to give the residual waste in kilograms 
per household. 

3.2.5.2 Communications with residents to encourage recycling 
participation and correct recycling to minimise the amount of 
recyclate rejected will decrease the amount of waste generated, 
as well as continued engagement in county- and country-wide 
campaigns to encourage re-use and waste minimisation.

3.2.6 A food waste collection trial began at Pickwick House, Northfleet in 
November 2019.

3.2.6.1 Our aim was to develop a cost-effective, safe and accessible food 
waste recycling service for residents of the borough living in flats 
in a timely manner, prior to the potential introduction of mandatory 
collections nationally.

3.2.6.2 After an initial consultation, 77% of residents were in favour of the 
scheme.

3.2.6.3 The trial was monitored for the quality and quantity of material 
collected for recycling on a weekly basis. Communications were 
modified due to some initial contamination issues which were then 
resolved.

3.2.6.4 The project has been reviewed and the concept has proved to be 
successful. The trial will be expanded to other flatted 
developments to test the scalability of the scheme. 

April - Jun Jul - Sept Oct - 
Dec

Jan - 
Mar

End of Year

2016-17 131.21 127.96 124.33 128.60 512.10

2017-18 119.97 101.30 101.63 108.80 431.70

2018-19 108.50 105.24 109.51 108.97 432.23

2019-20 107.09 103.92 107.80 108.71 427.53

2020-21 123.76* - - - -

Page 34



13

3.2.7 Recycling Communications Campaign (2020-21)

3.2.7.1  The recycling rejection rate from the Material Recovery Facility 
(MRF) has increased annually in recent years (see table 3.2.8). 
This is typically caused by residents putting the wrong materials 
such as black sacks nappies and textiles into their recycling bins.

3.2.7.2 As shown in table 3.2.8, in the first quarter of 2019-20 there was a 
4.3% reduction in recycling contamination when compared to the 
first quarter of the year 2019-20. This is a positive outcome is a 
result of the actions taken by the Waste Management Team 
detailed in 3.2.8.3 to 3.2.8.4.

3.2.8  % of Recycling Contamination

3.2.8.1 The data is provided by KCC on a monthly basis.

3.2.8.2 National studies suggest that the increasing rate of dry recycling 
contamination could be the result of a lack of consistent 
messaging leading to confusion amongst the public. To combat 
this, a Waste & Recycling Services leaflet has been prepared for 
distribution to all new housing developments within the borough 
and for distribution to landlords and lettings agents to be shared 
with tenants moving in to properties. 

3.2.8.3 The Waste Supervisor has also been issuing leaflets to residents 
whose bins have not been collected because the bin contains 
non-recyclable materials and is therefore considered to be 
contaminated. An educational recycling animation has also been 
produced and shared with residents on social media.

3.2.8.4 During lockdown, there was a marked spike in rejected loads of 
recycling due to contamination. Guidance information warning 
against the disposal of black sack waste in recycling bins and an 
animation was produced to clearly show which materials should 
be recycled. Anecdotally, the number of rejected loads then 
subsided to pre-lockdown levels. Work is being undertaken to add 
further guidance information to pertinent sections on the council 
website.

3.2.8.5 A robust Bin Contamination Policy was presented to the 
Operational Services Cabinet Committee on 8th June 2020. The 
policy was implemented in September 2020 and is helping 
residents who persistently contaminate their recycling bins to 
recycle correctly.

April - Jun Jul - Sept Oct - 
Dec

Jan - 
Mar

End of Year 
Average

2016-17 10.5% 9.0% 8.8% 10.1% 9.6%
2017-18 8.9% 10.8% 10.6% 9.7% 10.0%
2018-19 7.8% 11.5% 11.5% 10.8% 10.4%
2019-20 12.9% 13.9% 12.7% 9.8% 12.3%
2020-21 8.6% - - - -

Page 35



14

4. Horticultural Services 

4.1 Wildflower meadows and set-aside land at open spaces for increased biodiversity, 
carbon capture and improved soil chemistry have continued to be developed this 
year as part of the Carbon Neutral Gravesham: 2030 strategy. The wildflower area 
in the Dell area at the Riverside Leisure Area has been a success and set-aside 
land at The Warren has received many compliments from members of the public. 
Work is continuing to develop other areas of Council-owned land including 
partnership working with the Kent Wildlife Trust and Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation.

4.2 During the COVID-19 lockdown period, the government mandated that 
playgrounds across the country should be closed. On the 4th July 2020, the 
playgrounds across the borough re-opened following a change in government 
guidance. In summary, the following measures were put into place to facilitate the 
safe opening of our playgrounds:

 COVID-19 generic risk assessments were carried out for all playgrounds. 
 Site specific risk assessments were carried out for sites with outdoor gym 

equipment.
 Signage was erected to display public health rules and site specific rules.
 Every other flat and cradle swing was removed across all sites if they 

were less than 2 metres apart; for example in a two bay swing set 
removed one swing.

 Basket swings and tyre swings were removed to prevent the 
congregation of groups.

 One side of each piece of face-to-face exercise equipment has been 
taped off.

 Other selected play equipment designed for use by more than one child 
(where social distancing isn’t possible) has been taken out of use.

 More regular site checks and an enhanced bin emptying schedule have 
been put into effect.

 The cleaning of high touch areas such as entrance gates, ladders and 
slides at high usage sites has also been enhanced.

4.3 So far the response to the opening of the borough’s playgrounds has been very 
positive even with the temporary reduction in some items of play equipment 
available.

5. Cemetery Services 

5.1 The Cemeteries & Allotments Manager is looking at changes to the Northfleet 
Cemetery to make access better for visitors, the replacement of the toilets and the 
re-location and screening of general waste bins.

5.1.1 Access for visitors to Northfleet Cemetery will be improved by making 
changes to parking facilities and by adding passing places on the vehicle 
route through the cemetery. These works have unfortunately been delayed 
by the COVID-19 pandemic and will commence in the coming months.

5.1.2 The planned refurbishment of the toilet facilities will commence in the 
coming months with the aim of providing appropriate facilities for people 

Page 36



15

attending funerals. The male toilets remain closed and the female facilities 
continue to operate as unisex facilities. 

5.1.3 The 1100L rubbish bins at the Northfleet Cemetery have been moved from 
the entrance to behind the chapel and have been screened off to prevent 
illegal use and to improve the appearance of the site. A photo of the 
completed works can be seen below. 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 37



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal There are no legal implications.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are a number of projects within this document which are funded and some 
where funding will be required. Where funding is required these projects will go 
through the normal funding process.

Risk Assessment The projects contained within this report are designed to improve service delivery 
and impact directly in the aims of the new Corporate Plan.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People: To create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and delivering  
projects and initiatives to further increase recycling.

Climate Change #1 Strategic Environment - Review the council’s position of recycling in all flats and 
introduce recycling bins in public areas such as high streets, public spaces  

Crime and Disorder There are no implications.

Digital and website 
implications

The campaigns and projects detailed will have an impact on the Digital Team due 
to necessary changes in website design, social media promotion and amendments 
to online forms and back-office processes.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no implications.

Page 38

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Committee

Date: 23 September 2020

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter One 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Operational Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter One 2020-21 (April to June 2020). 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Operational Services 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter One 2020-21, covering the period April to June 2020. 

Page 39 Agenda Item 7



2

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented in tabular and graphical 
form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate either to 
those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data has not 
been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns where data 
has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next available 
reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 40



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 41

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 42



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

O P E R A T I O N A L  S E R V I C E S  
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  1  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 43



P I  3 Total number of reported Health & Safety incidents

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

11 3 4 5 6

P I  4 % of broadly compliant food establishments

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

93.0% 93.1% 94.2% 93.8% 89.0%

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Enforce high regulatory standards: put customer and employee safety first by ensuring

commercial businesses and licence holders are fully compliant with expected legislative standards.

O U T T U R N

Licensing: The Licensing Team had to respond very quickly; making a number of immediate, albeit 

temporary, operational changes designed to ensure continued compliance with legislation whilst 

simultaneously adhering to Government advice, protecting staff and public health, and supporting our 

customers.  The Team are now faced with a sizable task of issuing new vehicle plates, driver badges, 

and full licences to those currently issued with a temporary licence; managing the collection of any 

deferred fees; satisfying any outstanding renewal requirements, and; undertaking any associated 

compliance and enforcement interventions – whilst still endeavouring to maintain all day to day 

requirements.

Environmental Health (Commercial Team): In response to the Government decision on 23 March to 

close all non-essential business the FSA (Food Standards Agency) issued guidance to defer all food 

hygiene visits and non-urgent interventions. This essentially suspended visits to any food businesses 

unless there was an imminent risk to public health.   The team were however simultaneously tasked 

with leading the council’s response in relation to the Coronavirus business closure (and gradual 

reopening) requirements, and more recently also the Covid-secure requirements and council’s own 

return to work risk assessments which fall within the remit of Health and Safety at Work.

Following, and in accordance with, further FSA guidance, officers intend to commence inspections on 

a risk-based/priority basis from Monday 3 August 2020. We do not anticipate any initial problems with 

this approach except that some of the businesses that are due inspections may still be or are now 

closed (schools) and others such as care homes are still not admitting any visitors.

The PI 4 indicator of 'broadly compliant’ food establishments stands at 89% for Q1, slightly below our 

usual value, as the report used to capture this figure will count all premises not yet inspected due to 

the above national inspection deferral as non-compliant. 

Finally, the total number of reported health and safety incidents indicator is dependent upon business 

compliance with formally reporting accidents to the Health & Safety Executive (HSE) and members of 

the public, employers and employees reporting accidents/incidents to the Environmental Health 

department.  The six incidents logged in Q1 does not therefore directly reflect upon officer’s work 

performance, but does serve to give some indication as to how healthy and safe premises in 

Gravesham are.

O U T T U R N

0

5

10

15

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

P
age 44



Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

95.0% 98.0% 98.0% 99.0% 99.8%

O U T T U R N

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

P I  5
% of environmental health service requests receiving a first response within five 

working days 

2. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of 

household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the 

borough.

Environmental Protection update - Mark Lees

The Environmental Protection team’s ordinarily busy reactive workload addressing allegations of 

nuisance and other service requests increased significantly during lockdown, with 298 incoming 

complaints logged during Q1; more than double the same period last year.  The majority of these 

related to noise, which is generally the largest category of nuisance complaint received, but we also 

saw a spike in bonfire-related complaints during lockdown. In addition, 238 enquiries and service 

requests – mostly relating to business closure requirements - were dealt with by the Commercial 

Team in Q1, compared to 43 for the same period last year which is more representative of a usual 

quarterly value for that team.

Despite collectively processing some 536 service request in Q1, in terms of first responses to ‘urgent’ 

complaints, our target of 24 hrs has continued to be met in 100% of instances in Q1. Equally, 99.8% 

of all ‘routine’ complaints received a first response five working days.  

Our air quality strategies are largely progressed via the planning process. The Environmental 

Protection Team respond to all relevant planning applications and also the officers play an active part 

in working groups relating to major developments.  

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

P
age 45



P I  9 Total volume of residual waste per household

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

108.0 212.7 320.0 427.6 125.1

P I  8 % of household waste recycled P I   10 % of household waste sent to landfill

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

44.3% 44.2% 42.6% 42.5% 45.6% 1.9%

3. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of 

household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the 

borough.

Waste & Recycling update - Stuart Alford 

Our Waste & Recycling crews have remained remarkably resilient in delivering key services to the 

residents of Gravesham throughout the lockdown period. Full staff coverage has been maintained 

and all services were maintained, including garden waste collections. 

In the period March - June 2020 the total refuse, recycling and garden waste tonnages (excluding 

food waste) collected was 1245.6 tonnes greater than the period March - June 2019, an increase of 

12.1%.  Despite the pressure arising from increased kerbside collection tonnages, between March 

and June 2020, 100% of households received their scheduled refuse and recycling collection. 

In April, there was a marked spike in contaminated recycling loads that were rejected at the 

Pepperhill. Bartec highlighted a consistent level of kerbside rejections of contaminated recycling bins, 

indicating that crews maintained standards and enforced the current policy on contaminated recycling 

bins. Some contamination, though, is undetectable by crews and so when the number of rejected 

loads began to increase, communications materials were produced and shared on corporate social 

media alongside an animation about what can be recycled in Gravesham, resulting in a decline in 

rejected loads to pre-lockdown levels. Progress towards the completion of projects to improve levels 

of recycling and to reduce contamination have continued. For example, a new Bin Contamination 

Policy has been approved and is nearing implementation.

Throughout February, corporate social media accounts promoted a Love Food, Hate Waste 

campaign, encouraging residents to use the food that they already had at home and to minimise food 

wastage. GBC also took part in a Kent-wide ‘Remember Your Re-Usable’ campaign in February to 

raise awareness of the environmental impact of single-use plastics and to encourage people to carry 

a re-usable item instead. The campaign involved running a local competition in Gravesham to win one 

of ten goody bags containing re-usables worth £50, which gained approximately 145 entries.

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N

Annual indicator Annual indicator 

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q4
2019 - 20

35%

40%

45%

50%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

100

225

350

475

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

P
age 46



P I  11 Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC responsibility (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

2 2 1

P I  12 % of areas with unacceptable levels of littering

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% N/A

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

4.Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive town centre: a 

comprehensive programme of street cleansing and high standard of horticultural maintenance. 

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

N/A

The Waste Management Team have continued to work hard to improve the cleanliness of the 

borough by targeting certain areas to improve cleanliness and reduce fly-tipping. Some examples of 

the locations targeted and positive actions taken include: 

• Reducing fly-tipping in St Marks Avenue by providing wheelie bins for flats above shops to store 

their waste in and by delivering letters to properties in the area and acting upon evidence found in 

dumped black sacks.

• A deep clean of Pier Road river viewing platform following accumulations of litter on a daily basis 

linked to anti-social behaviour.

• The removal of tree guards and a deep clean in the Wellington Street area.

The purchase of the Big Belly bins and the renewal of the CLEAN license has enabled the continued 

use of them to effectively contain waste in the town centre and to manage capacity. Some of the Big 

Belly bins have been re-deployed to other areas of the borough, such as Perry Street and the 

Promenade Café, to improve the management of litter in these areas. 

The ‘No More Litter’ campaign has delivered a new hard-hitting message about the selfishness of the 

minority who litter our borough.  This message has so far been delivered on posters distributed to 

takeaways in the town centre and at Perry Street. Signage has also been erected in Gravesham 

parks and open spaces, supported by social media posts.

A county-wide ‘Duty of Care’ campaign was run across Kent educating residents on their 

responsibilities when disposing of their rubbish and the penalties they face if their rubbish is found 

dumped because they have used an unlicensed waste carrier. Approximately 40 glow in-the-dark 

‘CCTV Active Locally’ anti-fly-tipping signs have been deployed strategically in fly-tipping hot spots 

across the borough, based upon the application of prior intelligence.

As part of the county-wide project, waste ‘Duty of Care’ courses were offered free of charge to 

business owners in each of the Kent districts.  The aim of the course was to educate business owners 

on their responsibilities relating to waste disposal and the penalties if their waste is found fly-tipped, 

whether in Gravesham or elsewhere in Kent. The course was hosted by Gravesham Borough Council 

on Friday 21 February and was a massive success with over 70 attendees.  

Horticultural Services concluded the winter tree planting ended in January 2020 with the planting of 

212 trees across the borough. Approximately five Gravesham open spaces now use 'set-aside' land in 

order to increase the biodiversity of flora and fauna and to improve soil chemistry in these areas. The 

Ebbsfleet Development Corporation has also been involved in trialling the establishment of a 

wildflower meadow at Northfleet Country Park, resulting in some germination when inspected. A 

further project in collaboration at Wallis Park involving tree and bulb planting has also concluded.

0

1

2

3

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 47



P I   39 % of council play sites annually inspected

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100%

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Improve resident well-being: provide and preserve a suite of high quality play areas and promote 

opportunities for active lives.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

O U T T U R N

Ongoing play site improvement works continue as part of a 20 year replacement programme from 

capital funding to allow the Council to renew play sites across the borough in a managed fashion, 

providing good quality facilities for residents to utilise. Play site refurbishment works at Durndale, 

Central Avenue and Waterton Avenue have now been completed.  

Following a change in Government Guidance, the Borough’s playgrounds were re-opened on 

Saturday 4 July 2020. In summary, the following are the measures were put into place to facilitate the 

safe re-opening of our playgrounds:

• COVID-19 generic risk assessments have been carried out for all playgrounds. 

• Site specific risk assessments were produced for large sites such outdoor gym equipment and 

Woodlands Park.

• Signage includes public health rules and site specific rules.

• Every other flat and cradle swing has been removed across all sites as they aren’t 2m apart; for 

example, in a two-bay swing set we removed one swing. Basket swings and tyre swings have been 

removed as they attract groups

• Face-to-face exercise equipment - one side has been taped off.

• Other selected play equipment designed for use by more than one child (where social distancing 

isn’t possible) has been taken out of use.

• Queue systems have been put into place at Woodlands Park for the zip wire.

• More regular site checks and bin emptying.

• Cleaning of high touch areas such as entrance gates, ladders and slides at high usage sites.

Annual indicator Annual indicator 

#2 PLACE 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 48


	Agenda
	2 Minutes from Previous Meeting
	5 Litter Bin Replacement & Recycling on-the-go Trial
	23.09.20 - Litter Bin Replacement Appendices 2-3

	6 Portfolio Performance Update - Operational Services Projects
	7 Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 2020/21
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q1 2020-21




